
Governor Marin,

Mapmaker Miera,

and the swap of

Tajique and Quarai

A TALE OF
TWO PUEBLOS

By John L. Kessell

The Miera map of 1759-60 (above) shows
Tajique to the south of Quarai (Cuarac), a
switch from his earlier map depicted on
the opposite page.

IF THE SURVIVING RECORD of his deeds is any indication,

vain, volatile, publicly pious Francisco Antonio Marin del

Valle, governor of New Mexico from 1754 to 1760, must have

preferred dead Franciscans to live ones.' It was Marin-best

remembered as patron of Our Lady of Light chapel whose

carved stone reredos today graces Santa Fe's Cristo Rey

church-who sought, dug for, and found the remains of

saintly Fray Jer6nimo de la Llana, then, to offer proof, altered

the map to fit his claim.
It was also Marin who enticed Bernardo de Miera y Pacheco,

colonial New Mexico's premier map maker, to move from El

Paso to Santa Fe. Miera joined Marin on his inspection of the

colony in 1757 and early the next year drew a map to accom-

pany the governor's report. This 1758 Miera map showed the

ruined missions east of the Manzano Mountains, the so-called

Saline missions, in their proper order, from north to south:

Chilili, Tajique, Quarai, Ab6. 2 On another, more elaborate map

in color, evidently drawn in 1759, Miera inked in the names of

the abandoned Salinas missions in the same correct order.

Then, as a result of Governor Marin's quest for the holy re-

mains of Fray Jer6nimo, the dutiful cartographer painted out

Tajique and Quarai and transposed them.3 Henceforth, on all

his maps, Miera perpetuated the error.



Miera's map of 1758 has Tajique placed
correctly to the north of Quarai (Cuara), and both
are represented by the symbol for "ruined missions."

Governor Marin did not leave his fame to chance. He had his Below: Signatures of Francisco Antonio Marin del

good works fully documented. The dossier "Measures Taken Valle and Bernardo de Miera y Pacheco.

for Care of the Body of Venerable Father fray Jer6nimo de la
Llana," copied by Adolph F. Bandelier in 1888, explained the-7
mistaken shift of Tajique and Quarai. 4 Fray Jen6nimo, who
had labored with distinction in the missions of New Mexico
until his death in 1659, was known as a wonder-worker, even
as late as Marin's day. To recover the bones of this holy man
during the centennial of his death, along with those of another
exemplary friar buried at Picuris, and to enshrine these relics
in Santa Fe, struck Governor Marin as a worthy act.

Before he set out from the capital with his archaeological *
expedition, the governor studied a statement by one Fray ce
Nicholas de Freitas (Fleytas), who had buried Jer6nimo de la
Llana in the church at Quarai in 1659 and ten years later
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Miera's own 1758 map showed that the names and places
had held firm. Some cartographers who relied on Miera's later,
revised maps also transposed Quarai and Tajique (e.g., Juan

reburied the body in a pine box within the main altar. (Frietas
probably made his statement in 1670, the year after he re-
buried the body, not in 1706, which was likely a copyist's error.)

On March 30, 1759, Governor Marin stood inside the roof-
- less red sandstone walls of the Quarai church and gave the

order to dig. His crews set to work. When thorough excavation
a of the main altar and sanctuary failed to turn up the remains,

Marin was baffled. He asked for suggestions from members of
[i his party. Bartolome Fernandez, an officer of the Santa Fe

garrison, told the governor that he had always known the
-c ruined pueblo to the north, "now called Tajique," as the true

Quarai. In other words, only the names had been changed.
Two Indians testified next. One told of miraculous appear-

ances of a friar at Tajique. The other, Juan el Se (Che) of
Galisteo, had heard from an ancient called T6mpano, since

-t deceased, that Quarai had been abandoned first and that the
refugees from here had moved to Tajique. They had taken the
body of a friar from the Quarai church, but Tempano did not

t, ' know what they had done with it. Francisco el Tempano,
evidently among the Salinas people transplanted in the

SGalisteo Basin in 1678, described himself during the Pueblo
revolt of 1696 as a thirty-five-year-old native of Tajique.5 Ac-

2, L cording to the Indian version, the place names remained the
same-only the friar's body was changed.

In either case, the evidence pointed to Tajique, that is, to the
more northerly ruin. Digging there the next day, April 1, in the
church sanctuary, Marin's laborers unearthed what he was

h of after-a lone skeleton in conjunction with bits of the Francis-
f can cord and habit. A number of witnesses attested to the find.

At least the governor had his relics, but the question remained:
Had he found them at Tajique, or was this ruin really Quarai?

Marin inclined to the latter view. He remembered reading
something to that effect in the book Teatro Mexicano by Fran-
ciscan chronicler Agustin de Vetancurt. As soon as he re-
turned to Santa Fe he called for the book. Sure enough, Vet-
ancurt, who had never been to New Mexico and who wrote
twenty years after the pueblos were abandoned, had reversed
the order of Tajique and Quarai. 6 That clinched it for him.
There was absolutely no doubt, the governor proclaimed. The
venerable remains had been found at Quarai, not Tajique. The

- Indians' testimony was ignored. Bernardo de Miera y Pacheco
changed his map.

Still, that was not enough to make it so. Neither proclama-
tion nor map convinced the locals that Tajique was Quarai and
Quarai Tajique. There was no question that Tajique lay north
of Quarai and closer to Chilili during mission times. Seven-
teenth century documents-documents unavailable to Marin
and and Miera-offered ample proof.7' The names had en-
dured. Marin's predecessor stationed summer patrols "at the
place of Quarai (Coara) or Tajique of the old missions along
the cordillera of the Sierra de Sandia" (V6lez Cachupin 1754).



L6pez, who made Quarai "Puaray"),8 but the people of the Rio
Abajo, who hunted, tended sheep, and chased marauders on
the other side of the mountains, needed no maps. When, in the
early nineteenth century, they petitioned for lands in the area,
they knew precisely where these places were.

Bandelier, who transcribed by hand the lengthy record of
Marin's successful body hunt, was not fooled either. He had
visited Tajique and Quarai himself, and he knew that Vetan-
curt was unreliable. George Kubler, who had neither Miera's
correct 1758 map nor Bandelier's transcript, was very nearly
fooled. More recently, however, the view of Bandelier (and of
Francisco el Tempano) has prevailed. 9

Lest we ourselves be judged, we ought not to condemn
Governor Marin too roundly. Probably he was not the first
New Mexico "archaeologist" to adjust the historical record to
fit his excavations and expectations. And certainly he was not
the last. l

References

Adams, Eleanor B.
1954 Bishop Tamaron's Visitation of New Mexico,

1760. Historical Society of New Mexico Publica-
tions in History, Vol. 15, Albuquerque.

Adams, Eleanor B., and Fray Angelico Chavez
1956 The Missions of New Mexico, 1776: A Description

by Fray Francisco Atanasio Dominguez with
Other Contemporary Documents. University of
New Mexico Press, Albuquerque (reprinted
1975).

Bandelier, Adolph F.
1892 Final Report of Investigations among the Indians

of the Southwestern United States, Carried On
Mainly in the Years from 1880 to 1885. Vol. 2.
Papers of the Archaeological Institute of America.
American Series, Vol. 4. John Wilson and Son,
Cambridge, Mass.

Chavez, Fray Angelico
1965 "The Unique Tomb of Fathers Zarate and de la

Llana in Santa Fe." New Mexico Historical Re-
view, Vol. 40, pp. 101-15.

Kessell, John L.
1979 Kiva, Cross, and Crown: The Pecos Indians and

New Mexico, 1540-1840. National Park Service,
Washington, D.C.

Kubler, George
1972 The Religious Architecture of New Mexico in the

Colonial Period and Since the American Occupa-
tion. 4th ed. University of New Mexico Press, Al-
buquerque.

Lange, Charles H., Carroll L. Riley, and Elizabeth M. Lange
1975 The Southwestern Journals of Adolph F. Ban-

delier. University of New Mexico Press, Al-
buquerque.

Marin del Valle, Francisco Antonio
1759 Diligencias practicadas sobre la solicitud del

cuerpo del Venerable Padre fray Jer6nimo de la
Llana. Transcript by Adolph F. Bandelier, Santa
Clara, May 29, 1888. Thomas Benton Catron Col-
lection, Zimmerman Library, UNM, PC 29, 807
(translated in Lange, Riley, and Lange 1975:
515-25).

Navarro Garcia, Luis
1964 Don Jose de Gdlvez y la Comandancia General de

las Provincia Internas del Norte de Nueva Espania.
Escuela de Estudios Hispano-Americanos, Seville,
Spain.

The church at Quarai as it appears today, where
Governor Marin, digging in 175 , failed to find the
remains of Fray Jeronimo de la Liana.

Scholes, France V.
1929 "Documents for the History of the New Mexican

Missions in the Seventeenth Century." New
Mexico Historical Review, Vol. 4, pp. 45-58 (see
also "A Correction," Vol. 19, pp. 243-46).

Scholes, France V., and Eleanor B. Adams
1952 "Inventories of Church Furnishings in Some of

the New Mexico Missions, 1672." Dargan Histori-
cal Essays. University of New Mexico Publica-
tions in History, No. 4. University of New Mexico
Press, Albuquerque.

T6mpano, Francisco el
1696 Testimony before Diego de Vargas, Santa Fe, June

13. Spanish Archives of New Mexico, Series II, no.
60a.

V6lez Cachupin, Tombs
1754 Copia de la instrucci6n que d. Tombs V6lez

Cachupin ... dej6 a su sucesor d. Francisco Marin
del Valle, Aug. 12. Archivo General de la Naci6n
(M6xico). Provincias Internas. Tomo 102 (trans-
lated in Alfred Barnaby Thomas, The Plains In-
dians and New Mexico, 1751-1778. University of
New Mexico Press, Albuquerque, 1940).

Vetancurt, Agustin de
1870- Teatro Mexicano [1698]. 4 Vols. Biblioteca His-

71 t6rica de la Iberia. Vols. 7-10. Imprenta de I. Es-
calante y Ca., Mexico City.

Wilson, John P.
1973 "Quarai, Living Mission to Monument." El

Palacio, Vol. 78, no. 4, pp. 14-28.

Footnotes

1. Adams 1954: 25-26; Adams and Chavez 1956: 33-36,
246-47; Chavez 1965: 101-15.

2. Kessell 1979: 385-86, 507-12.
3. Kessell 1979: op. 167.
4. Marin del Valle 1759; Lange, Riley and Lange 1975:

514-25.
5. Tempano 1696.
6. Vetancurt [1698] 1870-71, III: 324-25.
7. Scholes 1929: 48, 53-54; Scholes and Adams 1952:

29-31.
8. Navarro Garcia 1964: fol. 456.
9. Bandelier 1892: 261 n. 3; Lange, Riley and Lange 1975:

364-67; Kubler [1940] 1972: 88-89; Wilson 1973: 19.




